# NO. 68373-0

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAMES McLAIN,

Respondent,

VS.

KENT SCHOOL DISTRICT, N

Appellant.

# MAR 19 2014 CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON OF

# PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

COGDILL NICHOLS REIN
WARTELLE ANDREWS VAIL
By: Douglas M. Wartelle, WSBA #25267
3232 Rockefeller Avenue
Everett, Washington 98201
(425) 259-6111
Attorneys for Respondent

# **

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

This Petition For Discretionary Review To
The Washington State Supreme Court is filed by
the Respondent, James McLain, (hereinafter
"McLain"), pursuant to RAP 13.4.

### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

McLain seeks review, and reversal, of the decision of the Court of Appeals filed December 16, 2013, No. 68373-0, Division One. See, Appendix A. Reference is also made to the Order denying McLain's Motion For Reconsideration, filed January 27, 2014, and McLain similarly seeks review and reversal of that decision. See, Appendix B.

# III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Should this Court accept review of the decision of the Court of Appeals denying McLain a hearing under Washington's continuing contract law applicable to certificated public school instructional staff on the basis that said decision raises a significant issue of law under

the Constitution of Washington, or on the basis that the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest?

## IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

a certificated instructional McLain was employee (teacher) with the School Kent District. The District sought to nonrenew McLain's continuing contract due to alleged performance deficiencies and issued to McLain a Notice of Probable Cause under RCW 28A.405.300. McLain timely availed himself of his right to file an appeal of said Notice of Probable Cause, and did so, again, as provided in RCW 28A.405.300. McLain and the District did not agree upon a hearing officer to serve under RCW 28A.405.310, and McLain made application to the Presiding Judge for King County Superior Court for the appointment of a hearing officer, all in accordance with RCW 28A.405.310. The Superior Court appointed a hearing officer qualified to serve in that capacity. The District appealed the appointment of the hearing officer on the grounds that McLain waited too long to apply to the Superior Court for the same, notwithstanding the fact that the District similarly delayed, and further that the District shoulders the burden of prosecuting to conclusion its effort to discharge McLain.

# V. ARGUMENT ON MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION

The Washington State Supreme Court should accept review of this matter on the grounds that the case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court, and the case raises a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington.

# 1. The Court Of Appeals' Decision Is Contrary To Washington Law And Denies McLain His Right To Hearing Prior To Discharge.

The authority of a Superior Court Judge to appoint a Hearing Officer under RCW 28A.405 et. seq. arises from RCW 28A.405.300 and RCW

28A.405.310. Those statutory provisions provide that when parties to a statutory appeal under RCW 28A.405.300 do not agree on a Hearing Officer, the Presiding Judge in the County in which the dispute is situated is to appoint a Hearing Officer. That is what occurred here.

The Court of Appeals' decision is contrary to Washington law, and effectively denies McLain substantive and procedural his due process rights under Washington's continuing contract See, Giedra v. Mount Adams School Dist. No. 209, (2005) 126 Wn.App. 840, 110 P.3d 232, reconsideration denied, review denied, 156 Wn.2d 1016, 132 P.3d 147; Daly v. Shelton School Dist. 309, (1970) 3. Wn.App. 348, 475 P.2d 897; Foster v. Carson School Dist. No. 301, (1963) Wn.2d 29, 385 P.2d 367; Hoagland v. Mount Vernon School Dist. No. 320, 1981 95 Wn.2d 424, 623 P.2d 1156; Lines v. Yakima Public School, Yakima School Dist. No. 7, (1975) 12 Wn.App. 939, 533 P.2d 140.

Some background as to the continuing contract law in Washington is necessary. The general purpose of RCW 28A.405.300, and the hearing procedures that follow under RCW 28A.405. et. seq., can be expressed as follows:

- "(1) To implement "the sound public policy of retaining in the public school system competent and capable teachers and supervisory personnel who have become increasingly valued by reason of their experience. This works not only to the advantage of the employees but of the public and those concerned with the administration of the school system. AGO 55-57, No. 51, at p.2.
- (2) To protect employees of school districts from arbitrary dismissal. Hill v. Dayton School District, 10 Wn.App. 251, 517 P.2d 223 (1973), reversed on other grounds, 85 Wn.2d 204 (1975), citing Foster v. Carson School District, 63 Wn.2d 29, 385, P.2d 367 (1963).
- (3) To eliminate uncertainty in the employment plans of both the teacher and the school district for the ensuing term . . . Robel v. Highline School District, 65 Wn.2d 477, at 483, 398 P.2d 1 (1965).
- (4) To create a form of civil service or merit system employment . . . (a) teacher has achieved a legal

equivalent of appointment examination, for he or she cannot even be appointed to a teaching position without possessing the professional qualifications prescribed by law, and evidenced by "an effective teacher's certificate other certificate orrequired by law of the State Board of Education." RCW 28A.67.070. Rightful possession or entitlement to such a certificate makes one a "certificated employee." These provisions should constitute at least the legal equivalent of a civil or merit system certificate of standing in examinations. Secondly the school employing teachers, board, in must take only those who possess requisite professional qualifications evidenced by a state certificate. 28A.67.070. The board is not a freely negotiating employer; its contract with the teachers must conform to the laws of the state."

Justice Hale dissenting in <u>Pierce v.</u>
Lake Washington School District, 84
Wn.2d 772 at 790 (1974).

The provisions of RCW 28A.405 define the certificated minimum rights applicable to employees in the State of Washington. **RCW** 28A.405.300 is known as the discharge statute; 28A.405.310 and RCW gives the statutorily appointed hearing officer certain rights and

These statutes, as to discharge authority. matters (adverse action), constitute the "continuing law contract." Under the discharge statutes, and under common law prior to their enactment, the burden is/was on the school district to "establish by a preponderance of the evidence" that there is "sufficient cause or causes" for discharge.

Prior to 1943, a school district had no obligation to a certificate employee at the end of the one-year period; the contract was simply terminated according to its terms. Seattle High School Chapter 200 v. Sharples, 159 Wn. 424, 293 P. 994 (1930). In 1943, the Washington State Legislature passed the predecessor to RCW 28A.405.210. The law then provided as follows:

"Every teacher, principal, supervisor or superintendent holding a position s such with a school district, whose employment contract is not to be renewed by the district for the next ensuing term, shall be notified in writing on or before April 15 preceding the commencement of such term of the decision of the board of directors not to renew his or her employment and the

reason or reasons therefore, and if such notification is not timely given by the teacher, district, the principal, superintendent supervisor or thereto shall be conclusively presumed to have been reemployed by the district for the next ensuing term upon contractual terms identical to those which would have prevailed if his or her employment had actually been renewed by the board of directors for such ensuing term . . . . " Chapter 52, Sec. 1, pp. 95-96, Laws of 1943.

In short, the employee's one year contract was "renewed" or "continued" for the next year, unless the district: (1) Gave written notice by April 15, and (2) Stated the reason or reasons in the notice. In 1955, the Legislature amended the continuing contract law by adding to these that а school district could requirements "nonrenew" an employee's contract only if the district: (1) Had "sufficient cause or causes" nonrenewal; (2) Gave the employee opportunity for a hearing before the school board; and (3) "Proved and established at the hearing" the cause or causes to be sufficient. district failed Ιf the to meet these requirements, the employee's contract was continued. Chapter 68, Sec. 415, Laws of 1955.

In 1969, the Legislature again amended the law providing for an optional direct appeal to superior court for all nonrenewals, i.e. cause oreconomic reasons. That was subsequently changed by Laws of the Sess., 1975-76, Chapter 114, Sec.2, whereby the hearing officer procedure was first instituted, but preserving the sufficient cause requirement, opportunity and preponderance hearing evidence tests and standard. This change was codified in RCW 28A.405.310, and subsequently amended again in Laws of 1st Sess., 1977, Chapter 7, Sec. 2, whereby the hearing officer was decision of the subject to subsequent appeal to the superior court.

In summary, the continuing contract law in Washington has a history spanning in excess of 50 years, with the discharge statute, RCW

28A.405.300, having first been enacted in 1961, Chapter 241, Sec. 2. The right of continuing contract employees to a hearing prior suffering adverse action is matter substantial public interest.

A school district's "cause or causes for nonrenewal or discharge" are those factors which "cause" the district to seek to terminate the RCW 28A.405.300 employment of a person. requires a district to specify in writing its causes or reasons for adverse action (ie, With discharge). respect to the hearing procedure, RCW 28A.405.300 provides through RCW 28A.405.310 for a full fact-finding hearing culminating in a written decision. The hearing officer sits as the tribunal of first resort and substitutes his judgment for that of the officer making the determination of probable cause, the The hearing, since it is the first District. hearing, must be de novo because the District has made only a "probable" decision and not a final decision as to the sufficiency of the cause or causes.

The hearing officer must follow the rules of evidence, make appropriate rulings of law, make rulings as to the admissibility of evidence, make his or her decision within 10 days following the conclusion of the hearing, and award attorney's fees if the hearing officer restores the employee to his or her position.

See RCW 28A.405.310(7) and (8).

Pursuant to RCWs 28A.405.300 and 28A.405.310, where the employee appeals from a probable cause determination to a hearing officer, there is no full due process hearing until a hearing is conducted by the hearing officer and hence there could be no final decision until the hearing officer decides whether probable cause and sufficient cause exist.

Under RCW Title 28A it has been held that where a district, instead of making a probable

cause determine, makes a final determination to terminate a teacher's employment prior affording him notice and an opportunity for hearing, such action renders the district's decision void, and entitled the employee to reinstatement of his employment. Foster v. Carson School District, 63 Wn.2d 29 (1963). reason for this is that the employee has a statutory and due process right under the continuing contract law to a hearing prior to a decision terminating his employment.

The discharge statutes have consistently been interpreted to mean that if it is found that the statutory procedures have not been followed, or if the District cannot prove by a preponderance of evidence that sufficient cause for discharge of the certificated employee exists, the hearing officer must then order reinstatement.

McLain must be provided with a hearing prior to his contract with the District being adversely affected. RCW 28A.405.300 provides:

In the event it is determined that there is probable cause or causes for a teacher, principal, supervisor, superintendent, other certificated employee, holding position with the school district, hereinafter referred to as "employee", to discharged or otherwise adversely affected in his or her contract status, such employee shall be notified in writing of that decision, which notification shall specify the probable cause or causes for Such determinations such action. probable cause for certificated employees, other than the superintendent, made by the superintendent. Such notices shall be served upon that employee personally, or by notice at the house of his or her usual abode with some persons of suitable age and discretion then resident Every such employee so notified, therein. at his or her request made in writing and filed with the president, chair of the board or secretary of board directors of the district within ten days receiving such notice, shall granted opportunity for a hearing pursuant to RCW 28A.405.310 to determine whether or not there is sufficient cause or causes for or her discharge or other adverse action against his or her contract status.

In the event any such notice or opportunity for hearing is not timely given, or in the event cause for discharge or other adverse action is not established by a preponderance of the evidence the at hearing, such employee shall be not discharged or otherwise adversely affected in his or her contract status causes stated in the original notice for the duration of his or her contract.

If such employee does not request a hearing as provided herein, such employee may be discharged or otherwise adversely affected as provided in the notice served upon the employee.

Transfer to a subordinate certificated position as that procedure is set forth in RCW 28A.405.230 shall not be construed as a discharge or other adverse action against contract status for the purposes of this section.

Wash.Rev.Code, 28A.405.300 [emphasis added].

The plain language of RCW 28A.405.300 makes clear that McLain may not be adversely affected in his contract status before there is a hearing and decision to determine whether such action is justified. Washington cases addressing this issue, and interpreting RCW 28A.405.300, yield the same conclusion. See, Benson v. Bellevue School District, No. 405, 41 Wn.App. 730 (1985); Foster v. Carson School District, No. 301, 63

Wn.2d 29 (1963); <u>Noe v. Edmonds School District</u>, No. 15, 85 Wn.2d 97 (1973).

2. The Court Of Appeals Decision Being Contrary To RCW 28A.405.310(7)(b) Raises An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest.

The decision of the Court of Appeals is contrary to RCW 28A.405.310(7)(b) which provides that the Hearing Officer is to make rulings of law and procedure. Wash.Rev.Code 28A.405.310(7)(b). The Superior Court, as noted above, had the limited authority to appoint a Hearing Officer, and did so. The Court of Appeals, exceeded its authority under Washington as decisions of law and procedure are specifically reserved for the Hearing Officer. The lengthy history of the continuing contract law in Washington, coupled with the Court of Appeals decision contrary to the same, raises an issue of substantial public importance such that the Supreme Court should accept review.

# 3. The Court Of Appeals Decision Being Contrary To RCW 28A.405.300 Raises An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest

The Court of Appeals decision is contrary to RCW 28A.405.300 which provides that once an employee situated as is McLain files a "notice of appeal" under RCW 28A.405.300, the employee is entitled to a hearing to determine if there sufficient cause for the adverse action is sought the by the school district (here, the Kent School District). The Court of Appeals, by ruling as it has, has denied McLain his right to a hearing before the Hearing Officer appointed by the Superior Court. This raises, again, an issue of substantial public interest as effect of the decision, significantly impacts entire continuing contract Washington.

# 4. The Decision Of The Court Of Appeals Improperly Interprets RCW 28A.405.310

28A.405.310 is clear that if RCW the parties cannot agree upon a Hearing Officer either party may apply to the Superior Court for the appointment of the same. The statute does not place upon either McLain or the District a requirement to "cooperate" as which seems to be the notion of the District, and does not require either McLain or the District to provide any explanation as to why the parties cannot agree upon a Hearing Officer in application for the appointment of the same. Here, the District could have sought the appointment of a Hearing Officer under RCW 28A.405.310 - it did not do and RCW 28A.405.310 does not place the burden of seeking the appointment of Hearing Officer solely upon McLain, nor does the statute require such a petition to be filed by McLain within any specified period of time. decision of the Court of Appeals is contrary to RCW 28A.405.310(4), imposes obligations upon McLain (and those availing themselves of their statutory appeal rights under RCW 28A) which cannot be found in the statute, and further such matters should be determined by the Supreme Court.

# 5. The Court Of Appeals Incorrectly Ruled Upon Appellant's "Waiver" Argument

A waiver of a right must be predicated on conduct which the person knows has effect of relinquishing his or her right. McDaniels v. Carlson, 108 Wn.2d 299, 308, 738 P.2d 254 (1987). The record here does not establish that McLain knew he was relinquishing his statutory right to a hearing under RCW 28A.405.300 et. There is nothing in the statutory appeal procedures from which McLain could discerned that any lack of communication alone would serve to relinquish his statutory appeal rights.

McLain cannot be said to have waived his right to a statutory hearing under **RCW** 28A.405.300 et. seq. when, in fact, he asserted his right to such a hearing by filing his notice of appeal. The Court of Appeals decision to the contrary strips McLain of his rights under Washington law to a hearing, a school as district employee covered by the continuing contract law, and there is a substantial public interest in review by the Supreme Court.

# VI. CONCLUSION

McLain's Petition For Discretionary Review
To The Washington State Supreme Court, for the
reasons set forth herein, should be granted.