NO. 90031-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAMES MCLAIN,

Respondent,

v.

KENT SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 415,

Petitioner.

PETITIONER'S ANSWER TO RESPONDENT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Charles W. Lind, WSBA No. 19974 Of Attorneys for Petitioner Kent School District No. 415 PATTERSON BUCHANAN FOBES & LEITCH, INC., P.S. 2112 Third Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98121 Tel. 206.462.6700

Received Washington State Supreme Court

MAR 2 6 2014

Ronald R. Carpenter Clerk

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE	
V.	LEGAL ARGUMENT5	
	A.	The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that a teacher who does not comply with the statutory requirements and deadlines of RCW 28A.405.310 has waived his right to appeal the nonrenewal of his teaching contract.
	В.	The Court of Appeals correctly held that the superior court is only authorized to appoint a hearing officer pursuant to RCW 28A.405.310 (4) when a school district and a teacher "fail to agree" on the joint selection of a hearing officer
VI.	CONC	CLUSION9

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page

WASHINGTON CASES McLain v. Kent School District No. 415, McLain v. Kent School District No. 415, **STATUTES** RCW 28A.405.310 (6) (d) 6

I. IDENTITY OF THE PARTIES

Respondent James McLain petitions this Court for review of the Court of Appeals decision below. Petitioner Kent School District No. 415 asserts that the matter was correctly decided and asks this Court to deny any further review of that decision.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION AT ISSUE

The Respondent seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision in *McLain v. Kent School District No. 415*, 178 Wash. App. 366, 314 P.3d 435 (2013). Respondent McLain also seeks review of the Court of Appeals' denial of his motion for reconsideration. *McLain v. Kent School District No. 415*, 2014 Wash. App. LEXIS 201 (January 27, 2014).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Where a public school teacher notifies a school district of his intent to appeal the nonrenewal of his contract pursuant to chapter 28A.405 RCW, but then abandons that administrative process for more than a year, did the Court of Appeals correctly decide that the teacher's failure to timely comply with the mandatory requirements and deadlines of the statutory procedure constituted a waiver of his right to this administrative appeal?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals correctly decide that the superior court presiding judge acted without authority in appointing a hearing

officer pursuant to 28A.405.310 (4) where the teacher failed to comply with the mandatory statutory procedures and where there was no evidence that the parties had been "unable to agree" on a hearing officer?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As the Court of Appeals noted, the facts of this case are undisputed. On February 23, 2010, the superintendent of the Kent School District ("the District") notified teacher James McLain that his teaching contract would not be renewed for the next school year. On March 1, an attorney for the Respondent notified the District that Respondent would be appealing the nonrenewal decision and counsel requested copies of the documents supporting the District's decision. However, Respondent's counsel notified the District in June that he was withdrawing from the case and sent a formal letter to that effect in July. No hearing officer had been nominated or selected by the parties for the appeal hearing. *McLain*, 178 Wash. App. at 369.

The District wrote the Respondent letters throughout July and August, 2010, reminding him that his teaching contract was going to end August 31 and notifying him that to continue the appeal of his nonrenewal either the Respondent or a legal representative on his behalf would need to contact the District to select a hearing officer. The District also informed the Respondent that if he simply disregarded the

¹ This notice was pursuant to the requirements of RCW 28A.405.210.

District's letter the right to a hearing would be deemed waived. *Id.* at 370-72.

Neither the Respondent nor an attorney on his behalf contacted the District during this time to select a hearing officer and begin the hearing process of RCW 28A.405.310.² The final letter for the District was sent to Respondent on August 19, 2010. Respondent did not reply to this notice. Respondent's teaching contract from the 2009-2010 school year expired on August 31, 2010. Respondent did not contact the District at any point during the 2010-2011 school year or before the beginning of the 2011-2012 school year. *Id.* at 372-73.

In November 2011—more than fifteen months after the District wrote the Respondent its last letter—an attorney contacted the District on the Respondent's behalf in an effort to pursue the Respondent's administrative appeal of the nonrenewal of his teaching contract following the 2009-2010 school year. The District notified the attorney that by failing to timely "follow through or appoint a designee to follow through with his hearing request" McLain had abandoned his right to a statutory hearing. *Id.* at 373.

On January 12, 2012, the Respondent filed a "Petition for Appointment of Hearing Officer Pursuant to RCW 28A.405.310 (4)" with the presiding judge of the King County Superior Court. Counsel for

² In August 2010 an attorney did contact the District on the Respondent's behalf, but when the District sought to clarify the scope of the attorney's representation, her office explained that their representation was limited to making a public records request on the Respondent's behalf. *McLain*, 178 Wash. App. at 371-72.

the Respondent asserted in a declaration that the parties had "been unable to agree on a hearing officer to conduct the hearing as required by statute." *Id.* at 373. The District filed a motion to deny the petition and requested oral argument. The District argued that the Respondent had waived his right to an administrative hearing and denied that the parties had ever "failed to agree" on the hearing officer. *Id.* at 374.

Without oral argument, the presiding judge entered an order appointing a hearing officer and directing the parties to contact the hearing officer within ten days. The District filed for discretionary review of the order by the Court of Appeals, which was granted. *Id.* at 374.

In a published opinion, the Court of Appeals concluded that the Respondent waived his right to an administrative appeal under chapter 28A.405 RCW by failing to comply with the mandatory statutory requirements and deadlines. *Id.* at 379. The Court of Appeals also recognized that the parties did not "fail to agree" on the selection of a hearing officer under RCW 28A.405.310 (4), and therefore the superior court did not have the authority to appoint a hearing officer pursuant to that subsection. *Id.* at 377-78. The Court of Appeals reversed and vacated the order appointing a hearing officer. *Id.* at 380.

After the denial of his motion for reconsideration, the Respondent initiated this petition for review.

V. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that a teacher who does not comply with the statutory requirements and deadlines of RCW 28A.405.310 has waived his right to appeal the nonrenewal of his teaching contract.

The procedures of chapter 28A.405 RCW govern the discharge of a certificated public school teacher as well as the nonrenewal of a certificated public school teacher's professional services contract. When a teacher's contract is to be nonrenewed under RCW 28A.405.210 or the teacher is to be discharged under RCW 28A.405.300, a certificated teacher has the right to an opportunity for a hearing pursuant to RCW 28A.405.310.³

The Court of Appeals correctly suggested that the language of the RCW 28A.405.310 hearing procedure requires more of a teacher than simply initiating the appeal process. For example, within 15 days of receiving the request for an administrative hearing, the Court of Appeals pointed out that the teacher and the District must each designate a nominee to jointly agree to a hearing officer. *McLain*, 178 Wash. App. at 376-77 (citing RCW 28A.405.310). Only if the parties fail to agree in this process is a party then authorized to petition the superior court to appoint a hearing officer. RCW 28A.405.310 (4).

³ Before the Court of Appeals, and now in his petition for review, Respondent McLain repeatedly and inaccurately states that under chapter 28A.405 he "must be provided with a hearing prior to his contract with the District being adversely affected." Petition for Discretionary Review to the Washington Supreme Court, page 10. More precisely, the law requires that McLain be given the *opportunity* for a hearing. RCW 28A.405.310 (1). The Court of Appeals concluded that McLain waived this opportunity when he failed to comply with the requirements of the appeal process.

This selection of the hearing officer triggers the timelines for the remainder of the process. Within five days following the selection of the hearing officer, the hearing officer must convene a prehearing conference with the parties⁴ where the hearing officer can issue subpoenas as either party may request; authorize the taking of a prehearing deposition at the request of either party; and see to it that discovery is exchanged. RCW 28A.405.310 (5), (6). The hearing itself commences within ten days following the date of the prehearing conference.⁵

The teacher's obligation to participate in the hearing process is evident throughout this provision. Nothing in the statutory language suggests that the employee can simply absent himself from the process after he notifies the District of his intent to appeal, as the Respondent argues. The reason for this is common-sense: this process is the *employee's opportunity to be heard* regarding the nonrenewal of his teaching contract. This entire procedure has only one purpose, *i.e.*, it is the opportunity for a teacher to explain his reasons why the nonrenewal should not take place. It is meaningless to hold a hearing after an employee asserts his right to be heard where neither the employee nor the employee's representative attends. To conclude otherwise—as urged by McLain—would result in an absurd interpretation of the statute

⁴ This prehearing may also be held at a more convenient time as agreed to by the board of directors and the employee. RCW 28A.405.310 (5).

⁵ If the employee requests a continuance, the hearing officer is to give "due consideration" to such request. RCW 28A.405.310 (6) (d).

whereby an "opportunity for a hearing" before an independent hearing officer is transformed into a meaningless formality in which the District simply meets ex parte with a hearing officer in a teacher's absence. This was clearly not the legislative intent when a public school teacher was afforded a statutory opportunity to challenge a district's decision regarding a discharge or nonrenewal decision.⁶

The hearing officer process should not be relegated to an empty ritual that a school district must plod through alone—and pay for⁷—when a teacher is not interested in participating or being heard. Nor should a certificated teacher be allowed to initiate the appeal process, disappear for an extended period of time, and then reappear several years later and demand to follow through with the appeal hearing simply because the school district did not have an ex parte hearing in the teacher's absence. These are the interpretations of RCW 28A.405.310 asserted by the Respondent. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected this approach and concluded that Respondent relinquished his right to a hearing by his protracted absence from the proceedings. Since the Respondent waived his right to a hearing, the Court of Appeals correctly held that the superior court presiding judge erred in appointing a hearing

⁶ The Court of Appeals correctly noted that when analyzing the interpretation and meaning of a student, the "fundamental objective is to ascertain and carry out the intent of the legislature." *McLain*, 178 Wash. App. at 375. Moreover, a statutory provision must be read in its entirety and within the context of the statutory scheme as a whole—the court must give meaning to every word and avoid an interpretation that would produce an unlikely, absurd, or strained result. *Id*.

⁷ A school district must pay all fees and expenses of any hearing officer. RCW 28A.405.310 (4).

officer to conduct the hearing.⁸ That order was properly reversed and vacated.

B. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the superior court is only authorized to appoint a hearing officer pursuant to RCW 28A.405.310 (4) when a school district and a teacher "fail to agree" on the joint selection of a hearing officer.

In the procedures for providing a public school teacher a hearing to contest his nonrenewal or discharge, RCW 28A.405.310 (4) contains the process for selecting an independent hearing officer. The parties must work jointly to select a mutually agreed-upon hearing officer. If they fail to agree on the selection of a hearing officer, either party may file a petition with the presiding judge of the superior court to appoint a hearing officer. Under the plain and unambiguous wording of the statute, however, this process is only triggered when the parties "fail to agree as to who should be appointed as the hearing officer." *Id*.

The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that the presiding judge of the King County Superior Court erred in granting the Respondent's petition to appoint a hearing officer in this case when the Respondent had abandoned the appeal process for more than a year. The Court of Appeals correctly noted that the District and the Respondent did not "fail to agree" on a hearing officer in this case—McLain's protracted

⁸ Respondent McLain has asserted in the past that only a hearing officer should decide whether he had waived his right to a hearing, citing RCW 28A.405.310 (7). Subsection (7), however, merely authorizes the hearing officer to make rulings of law in connection with the hearing. This provision does <u>not</u> preclude a court from determining that a teacher has waived his opportunity to be heard or is otherwise not entitled to a chapter 28A.405 RCW appeal hearing.

failure to pursue his appeal was a waiver of that right and the District refused to re-engage the appeal process with him. The Respondent erroneously used subsection (4) of RCW 28A.405.310 to compel the District to participate in—and pay for—an administrative hearing to which the District rightfully believed the Respondent was not entitled.

The Respondent had other options when the District refused to grant him an opportunity for a hearing. For example, the Respondent could have sought a Writ of Mandamus under chapter 7.16 RCW compelling the District's board of directors to participate in the hearing process. The plain language of 28A.405.310 (4), however, applies to a different situation and was the wrong mechanism for mandating that the District engage in a duty that did not exist. The Court of Appeals correctly found that the Respondent and the superior court presiding judge misused this procedure under the present facts.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the Petitioner Kent School District asks this Court to deny the Respondent's petition to review the Court of Appeals' well-reasoned decision in this matter.

////

1111